Investigation on The Characteristics of Magnetorheological Elastomer Using Natural Rubber and Petroleum-Based Oil

by

Marni Zalikha Binti Mohd Zarir 22752

Dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) (Mechanical)

January 2020

Universiti Teknologi PETRONAS 32610 Seri Iskandar Perak Darul Ridzuan

CERTIFICATION OF APPROVAL

Investigation on The Characteristics of Magnetorheological Elastomer Using Natural Rubber and Petroleum-Based Oil

by

Marni Zalikha Binti Mohd Zarir 22752

A project dissertation submitted to the Mechanical Engineering Programme Universiti Teknologi PETRONAS in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the BACHELOR OF ENGINEERING (Hons) (MECHANICAL)

Approved by,

DR. NURUL AZHANI YUNUS

UNIVERSITI TEKNOLOGI PETRONAS TRONOH, PERAK

January 2020

CERTIFICATION OF ORIGINALITY

This is to certify that I am responsible for the work submitted in this project, that the original work is my own except as specified in the references and acknowledgements, and that the original work contained herein have not been undertaken or done by unspecified sources or persons.

Marni zalikha binti mohd zarir

ABSTRACT

A comprehensive study on the characteristics of magnetorheological elastomer (MRE) has yet been reported although it is vital prior to employ the MRE in any smart devices. The purpose of this paper therefore is to study the influence of petroleum-based oil (PBO) on the characteristics of MRE using natural rubber as MRE matrix and carbonyl iron particles as magnetizable particles. Three PBO that will be used are naphthenic oil, paraffin oil, and light mineral oil. The compositions were mixed and cured without an applied magnetic field to fabricate isotropic MRE. The fabricated MRE was characterized with respect to magnetic properties, morphology, and thermal behaviour. The results showed that natural rubber-based MRE with light mineral oil had homogeneous dispersion of carbonyl iron particles within the matrix. In the meantime, the MRE with naphthenic oil obtained low retentivity magnetization as a result of carbonyl iron particles as a soft magnetic particles that easily demagnetized. The thermal stability of MRE with naphthenic oil improved as PBO improves the dispersion of carbonyl iron particles thus decrease the permeability of heat to pass through the MRE. The enhanced characteristics of MRE was expected as PBO acts as dispersing agent and improve the dispersibility of carbonyl iron particles within the MRE.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All praises to the Almighty God, Allah S.W.T for enlightening the author path with wisdom and blessing, through strength, flow of ideas and also patience. The author would also like to thank the people who had helped in completing the project:

The author would like to express profound gratitude to the supervisor Dr. Nurul Azhani Yunus for her support and guidance throughout the two semester of final year project period. It is a great opportunity and experience to be supervised under Dr. Nurul Azhani throughout the process in exploring the importance and significance of research.

The author would also like to express full appreciation towards the colleagues who had worked together in this research, for all the guidance and assistance given throughout the period. Sincere thanks to parents, fellow friends, and all of the persons involved for the supports that the author had received while completing the project.

Finally, the author would like to extend special thanks to Lembaga Getah Malaysia, UTP Centralised Analytical Laboratory, and staffs in Universiti Teknologi PETRONAS, who have helped in achieving the objectives of the studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTIFICATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	v
Chapter 1 : INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Problem Statement	2
1.3 Objectives and Scope of Study	2
Chapter 2 : LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Matrix in MRE	4
2.2 Ferromagnetic Particles in MRE	5
2.3 Dispersing Aids in MRE	5
2.4 Fabrication of MRE	6
Chapter 3 : METHODOLOGY	7
3.1 Morphology	
3.2 Magnetic Properties	
3.3 Thermal Behaviour	
Chapter 4 : RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.1 Morphology	
4.2 Magnetic Properties	
4.3 Thermal Behaviour	
Chapter 5 : CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
5.1 Conclusion	
5.2 Recommendations	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 General procedure of MRE preparation [5]	6
Figure 3.1 Flow of Experimental Work	9
Figure 4.1 FESEM images of MRE using (a) naphthenic oil, (b) paraffin oil, a	and
(c) light mineral oil at 100x magnification	14
Figure 4.2 FESEM images of MRE using (a) naphthenic oil, (b) paraffin oil, ((c) light
mineral oil at 500x magnification; (d) naphthenic oil, (e) paraffin oil, (f) light	mineral
oil at 1000x magnification	15
Figure 4.3 Magnetization curves of MRE using naphthenic oil	17
Figure 4.4 TG curve of MR with naphthenic oil	19

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Composition chart of MRE samples using three types of PBO	7
Table 3.2 FYP I Gantt Chart	11
Table 3.3 FYP 2 Gantt Chart	12
Table 4.1 Elements percentage in the MRE	16
Table 4.2 Magnetic properties of MRE using naphthenic oil	17

ABBREVIATIONS AND NOMENCLATURE

EDX : Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy	
FESEM : Field-emission scanning electron microscopy	
MR : Magnetorheological	
MRE : Magnetorheological elastomer	
MRF : Magnetorheological fluid	
NR-based MRE : Natural rubber-based magnetorheological elastomer	
PBO : Petroleum-based oil	
PBO : Petroleum-based oil TG : Thermal gravimetric	
PBO : Petroleum-based oil TG : Thermal gravimetric TGA : Thermal gravimetric analysis	
 PBO : Petroleum-based oil TG : Thermal gravimetric TGA : Thermal gravimetric analysis VSM : Vibrating-sample magnetometer 	

CHAPTER 1 : INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Magnetorheological (MR) consist a mixture of non-magnetic medium and soft magnetic particles, which can be controlled with magnetic field. Magnetorheological fluid (MRF) is first discovered in 1948 by Rabinow, which is a mixture of oil and ferrous particle that can change its phase from liquid to solid [1]. However, MRF exhibit distinct shortcomings such as the long-term stability caused by sedimentation of particles in MRF [2]. Thus, MRE was developed as an alternative of MRF, which is a solid composite material that consist of rubber, iron particles and additives.

There are two types of MRE comprises of isotropic MRE and anisotropic MRE [3]. Isotropic MRE is cured without an external magnetic field, while anisotropic MRE is cured in the presence of magnetic field [4]. By curing the anisotropic MRE under an applied magnetic field, the particles will form chains in the matrix, thus increase the interaction between the particles [2][4].

MRE has a number of applications in automotive industry particularly for vibration and noise control. The example of the applications in automotive are suspension systems, bushings, vibration absorbers, dampers, etc. [3][5][6]. Besides that, MRE is also applied in medical rehabilitation for the artificial prosthetic knees, whereby the prosthetic provide shock absorption between femur and tibia, thus prevent the knee from bending [5]. MRE has also showed a potential to be utilized in civil infrastructure to mitigate seismic forces caused by shock events [7][8][9][10].

MRE is a smart composite material that provides advantage due to its responsiveness to external magnetic field. Hence, the development of MRE-based devices or technologies could bring a huge achievement and be commercialised in a broad field.

1.2 Problem Statement

MRE is a developing smart composite which has been discovered for more than two decades starting from year 1995. The magnetic, mechanical and rheological properties, and stability of MRE brings a broad application prospects in the intelligent vibration and noise reduction. However, the existence of gaps between material properties of MRE and practical application results to restriction in commercial and real applications [6]. There are lack of feasibility studies on the characteristics of MRE such as the thermal behaviours of MRE and its functional behaviour. Hence, the characteristics of MRE is still in research state and have yet been discovered for various of application. Thus, this study is conducted to analyse the effect of three different PBO as the dispersing aids on the characteristics of MRE by using natural rubber as carrier matrix and carbonyl iron particles as magnetic particles, under the absence and presence of magnetic field. The characteristics of MRE will be examined.

1.3 Objectives and Scope of Study

The main objective of the research is to study the influence of PBO on the characteristic of natural rubber-based magnetorheological elastomer (NR-based MRE). In order to achieve the main objective, three sub-objectives are established as follows:

- 1. To observe the distribution of carbonyl iron particles in MRE through microstructure of NR-based MRE with the influence of three different PBO, consists of paraffin oil, naphthenic oil, and light mineral oil.
- 2. To analyse the magnetic properties of NR-based MRE using naphthenic oil.
- 3. To examine the thermal behaviour of NR-based MRE with naphthenic oil as the dispersing aids.

The scopes of study for the research are as below:

- 1. Natural rubber will be used as the carrier matrix of MRE
- 2. Three types of PBO are chosen as additives for fabrication of MRE which include paraffin oil, naphthenic oil, and light mineral oil
- 3. The characteristics of MRE which will only be examined cover magnetic properties, morphology, and thermal behaviour.
- 4. The thermal and morphological analyses will be measured without the presence of magnetic field.

CHAPTER 2 : LITERATURE REVIEW

MRE was first initiated by T. Shiga of Japan, in 1995 [11]. It is a smart material composite which consist of elastomer, ferromagnetic particles, dispersing aids, and other additives. MRE is a composite that are controllable via external magnetic field [12]. The ability of MRE to possess field-dependent mechanical storage and magnetic properties results in the applicability of MRE in automotive, medical, and civil industry [5][12]. The functionality of MRE that exhibit variable stiffness and damping properties is used to control noise, vibration, and also harshness.

2.1 Matrix in MRE

MRE has been fabricated using three types of material as the matrix, such as saturated elastomer (e.g. silicone rubber), unsaturated elastomer (e.g. natural rubber, synthetic rubber), and thermoset-thermoplastic elastomer (e.g. polyurethane). The matrix in MRE is a hyperelastic matrix that exhibits viscoelasticity behaviour when subjected to external loading [13]. A suitable matrix material should be selected depending on the desirable magnetic field-induced storage modulus and MR effect.

For MRE fabrication using silicone rubber, the MRE provides an increment in the dynamic stiffness, damping, and conductivity [5]. The silicon-based MRE is applied in the magnetically controlled actuators. There are various study in improving the mechanical properties of silicone-based rubber due to its difficulty to blend in the silicone matrix. The study focuses on the additives added to the silicone matrix such as silicone oil [14], methyl tri-methoxysilane [15], silane clear [16], etc. However, the silicon rubber has poor mechanical properties which is not suitable to be used for the bushing in automotive industry [5][17].

Compared to the silicon-based MRE, unsaturated elastomers have a better mechanical properties and heat resistance [5]. The tensile strength and rupture strength of MRE using natural rubber as matrix is ten times higher than using silicon rubber [17]. Synthetic rubber-based MRE has a high resistance to oil and weathering, while natural rubber has a high resistance to tearing at high temperature and good dynamic performance [17][18].

2.2 Ferromagnetic Particles in MRE

Besides the various selection of elastomers, ferromagnetic particles also assist in providing larger MR effect towards MRE. The magnetic particles could be carbonyl iron particles, nickel, cobalt, magnetite, iron sand, etc. Carbonyl iron particles are commonly used in the MRE due to the high permeability, high magnetic saturation and low remanence [5][19][20]. Moreover, the smaller size of magnetic particles will result in increment of interfacial friction among the particles. The particle size of 0 to 10 μ m result in high interfacial friction between the particles thus achieve a good damping factor [5].

2.3 Dispersing Aids in MRE

Furthermore, dispersing aids or plasticizers are needed in the fabrication of MRE. Dispersing aids allows the dispersion of ferromagnetic particles within the rubber. In addition, dispersing aids enhances the chains mobility of the elastomer by improving its flexibility and deformability, through decrement of cohesive forces between the chains. The conventional dispersing aids of rubber which is commonly used is aromatic oil. For natural rubber, the compatibles dispersing aids are paraffin oil, naphthenic oil, and aromatic oil [21]. However, aromatic oil have been reported to be carcinogenic[22][23]. There are few studies conducted on the influence of dispersing aids. Hence, these studies of plasticizers on the rubber only focused more on mechanical properties [18][24][25]. The example of dispersing aids that has been explored are epoxidized palm oil, aromatic oil, light mineral oil and naphthenic oil [18]. Besides that, a study of natural rubber using palm oil and paraffin oil had also been conducted to observe the morphology and mechanical properties [25].

2.4 Fabrication of MRE

The fabrication of MRE will undergoes two stages starting with mixing, and crosslinking or curing. For mixing process, rubber, ferromagnetic particles, dispersing aids and other additives are mixed together. The mixing of natural rubber to fabricate the natural rubber-based MRE is performed with additives (i.e. zinc oxide and stearic acid as activators), plasticizers (i.e. aromatic oil, PBO, etc.) and vulcanization agents (i.e. sulphur). The mixing process can be done through conventional rubber mixing using double roll mixing. After mixing process complete, crosslinking or curing process will be performed. The curing process can be in two types which is isotropic curing and anisotropic curing. Isotropic MRE is cured without an external magnetic field, while anisotropic MRE is cured in the presence of magnetic field [4]. The curing process will involve chain formation alignment between ferromagnetic particles and rubber. Figure 2.1 below shows the general procedure in fabricating MRE:



Figure 2.1 General procedure of MRE preparation [5]

CHAPTER 3 : METHODOLOGY

The methods in conducting the study are through literature review and lab experimental. This study will first start with evaluating various methods in the fabrication of MRE, by making a comparison of the methods along with its characteristic effects. Based on the comparison and knowledges, lab experiments will be conducted to identify the characteristic effects of MRE using natural rubber and carbonyl iron particles, with different types of PBO as dispersing aids. The dispersing aids in this study are naphthenic oil, paraffin oil, and light mineral oil.

The stages to fabricate MRE starts with mixing of natural rubber, carbonyl iron particles (60 wt%), with each of the three different PBO. The composition chart is shown in Table 1 for the fabrication of NR-based MRE samples, with three different types of PBO:

Compound Ingredients	Amount (phr)
Natural rubber	100
Carbon black	19
Zinc Oxide	5
Stearic Acid	2
Sulfur	2.3
CBS	0.8
РВО	10

Table 3.1 Composition chart of MRE samples using three types of PBO

The MRE will then be cured to form chain particles between natural rubber and carbonyl iron particles. The curing process will be conducted without external magnetic field, for 15 minutes at a temperature of 150°C. The characteristics effect of MRE for these three types of PBO will then be examined to analyse the influence of PBO. Magnetic properties and thermal behaviour will be examined only for MRE using naphthenic oil. Morphology will be conducted for MRE with naphthenic oil, paraffin oil, and light mineral oil to determine the characteristic of MRE.



Figure 3.1 Flow of Experimental Work

3.1 Morphology

The morphology will be examined through field-emission scanning electron microscopy (FESEM) with energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) analysis; ZEISS SUPRATM 55 VP to observe the distribution of carbonyl iron particles within MRE. The scanning electron resolution is 10 μ m, with accelerating voltage of 5 kV at working distance of 4.2 mm. The sample is coated with a thin layer of gold before the morphology test to avoid charging. Maximum size of the sample is within 1 mm. FESEM images of MRE cross-section was observed for the overall micrograph, and the dispersion of CI particles in the matrix with magnification of 70x, 100x, 300x, 500x, 1000x, 3000x, and 5000x.

3.2 Magnetic Properties

Magnetic properties of the MRE will be measured using vibrating-sample magnetometer (VSM); Lake Shore 7400 Series. The magnetic properties are determined by measuring the magnetic moment of MRE against the magnetic field. VSM test is conducted by applying magnetic field in both parallel and perpendicular to the direction of the particle chains [5]. By conducting VSM test, the magnetic moment of the rubber samples can be quantified. The sample is measured under field intensity up to 8000 Gauss.

3.3 Thermal Behaviour

Thermal behaviour of the MRE will be quantify using thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA). The mass of the sample is measured over time, against the changes of temperature. From the analysis, thermal stability of MRE can be evaluate to determine its temperature range [26:262]. ASTM D6370-99R03 Standard Test Method for Rubber – Compositional Analysis by Thermogravimetry is referred [27]. A sample of MRE with naphthenic oil was placed into the platinum pan of a Thermogravimetric Analyzer. Nitrogen purge is applied as a reagent for TGA. The sample is heated with a temperature range of 30.19 °C to 901.1 °C. From the TGA, the percent mass loss of each components in MRE is recorded and a thermogram of weight percentage against temperature is produced.

Table 3.2 FYP I Gantt Chart

Task	Academic Week													
1 dok	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
Study the general overview of MRE and its														
application														
Conduct literature review to gather														
information of the project title														
Submission of Progress Assessment 1						\bigstar								
Submission of extended proposal														
Proposal defence								\bigstar						
Submission of Progress Assessment 2											\bigstar			
Collect findings from literature review and compare each of the research paper														
Submission of Draft Interim Report														
Submission of Interim Report														\star
Preparation of sample fabrication														





Table 3.3 FYP 2 Gantt Chart

Task	Academic Week														
T ubk	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
Sample preparation															
Check lab availability															
Submission of Progress Assessment 1							\star								
Sample Testing															
Data and Result Gathering															
Submission of Draft Final Report															
Submission of Dissertation (Soft Bound)														\bigstar	
Video Presentation and Viva															\bigstar
Submission of Progress Assessment 2															\bigstar

Key Milestone



CHAPTER 4 : RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Morphology

The microstructure for all the three samples of NR-based MRE with different types of PBO were tested through FESEM-EDX analysis. Figure 4.2 display the FESEM images of NR-based MRE using three different PBO at magnification of 100x. All of the sample exhibit random dispersion of carbonyl iron particles within the matrix. The MREs depict isotropic types MRE as the curing process of the sample was conducted without magnetic field. By curing without an external magnetic field, none of chain formation alignment between ferromagnetic particles and rubber is exist. Therefore, carbonyl iron particles is randomly disperse within the rubber matrix.





Figure 4.1 FESEM images of MRE using (a) naphthenic oil, (b) paraffin oil, and (c) light mineral oil at 100x magnification

Figure 4.3 shows all of the samples at 500x and 1000x magnification to observe the effect of different types of PBO on the dispersion of carbonyl iron particles within the matrix. Small agglomeration of carbonyl iron particles are seen on all of the samples. The sample with light mineral oil as PBO has the least agglomeration shown in Figure 4.3 (c) and Figure 4.3 (f). The sample also depicts homogenous dispersion of carbonyl iron particles within the rubber matrix in Figure 4.2 (c). The compatibility of PBO plays an important role to lubricate and enhance the dispersion of carbonyl iron particles in the matrix. Hence, light mineral oil exhibits good performance in improving the dispersion of magnetic particles in the MRE. Meanwhile, MRE using naphthenic oil and paraffin oil display in Figure 4.3 (a), (b), (d), and (e) show few agglomerations in the distribution of carbonyl iron particles within the rubber matrix.



(d)









Figure 4.2 FESEM images of MRE using (a) naphthenic oil, (b) paraffin oil, (c) light mineral oil at 500x magnification; (d) naphthenic oil, (e) paraffin oil, (f) light mineral oil at 1000x magnification

Table 4.2 tabulated EDX results obtained from the FESEM images for all three samples. The samples comprise five elements consist of carbon (C), oxygen (O), sulfur (S), iron (Fe), and zinc (Zn) due to addition of additives for MRE fabrication. The existence of carbonyl iron particles is presented in the form of iron (Fe). All of the samples comprise of 60 wt% of carbonyl iron particles. Hence, Table 4.2 depicts Fe element in the range of 10 - 13 wt%.

Samples	Element	Weight (%)
	С	80.92
	0	2.53
MRE (Naphthenic Oil)	S	2.27
	Fe	11.70
	Zn	2.58
MRE (Paraffin Oil)	С	83.11
	Ο	2.72
	S	1.71
	Fe	10.29
	Zn	2.17
	С	79.01
	Ο	4.08
MRE (Light Mineral Oil)	S	1.98
	Fe	12.81
	Zn	2.11

Table 4.1 Elements percentage in the MRE

4.2 Magnetic Properties

Magnetic properties were determined using VSM for NR-based MRE using naphthenic oil. Figure 4.1 below shows the result of magnetic moment against field intensity which form hysteresis loop depending on the soft magnetic characteristics of the sample. The sample were tested from -8000 Gauss up to 8000 Gauss. Furthermore, the magnetic properties of NR-based MRE using naphthenic oil measured at room temperature are depicted in Table 4.1.



Figure 4.3 Magnetization curves of MRE using naphthenic oil

Table 4.2 Magnetic	properties	of MRE usin	g naphthenic	oi

Sample	Ms (emu/g)	Mr (emu/g)	H _c (G)
MRE (Naphthenic Oil)	17.23	0.075377	16.776

As the magnetic field strength applied increases, the magnetic particles within the matrix tend to align until perfect alignment reaches and maximum magnetization produced. Hence, the sample reached a magnetic saturation of 17.23 emu/g as depicted from Table 4.1 whereas increases in magnetic field strength will bring little or no effect onto the magnetization (M_s) of magnetic particles. Meanwhile, the value of retentivity magnetization, M_r of the sample is relatively low. The MRE sample has low retentivity magnetization as the magnetic particles within the matrix is soft magnetic materials. When the applied magnetic field strength was removed, the magnetic particles easily looses its magnetization and demagnetized. Furthermore, the coercive force, H_c of the sample is 16.776 emu/g. During demagnetization of magnetic particles, negative magnetic field strength was applied to reduce the magnetization to zero, known as coercive force. The sample depicts high coercive force in order to reduce the magnetization. The results had also reported from previous research by Aziz et al., whereas NR-based MRE using naphthenic oil has lower retentivity magnetization and higher coercive force [18].

4.3 Thermal Behaviour

The thermal behaviour of NR-based MRE using naphthenic oil was tested via TGA in a nitrogen atmosphere. Figure 4.4 illustrate the thermal gravimetric (TG) curve of the MRE. At the initial decomposition, a slight weight gain is observed from the TG curve. This might be either due to oxidation reaction of the surface material with the gaseous contaminants within the purge nitrogen gas or due to buoyancy effect caused by the density of the atmosphere in the balance decrease with increasing temperature. It is apparent that there are two stage of thermal decomposition of the MRE. The first stage began at the temperature of 256.53 °C while second stage started at 336.24 °C and ended at the temperature of 481.21 °C. The first thermal decomposition was attributed to the decomposition of volatile additives in MRE compound. The second stage of thermal decomposition was due to the decomposition of rubber matrix and contributed to higher weight loss of about 68.45 wt% as compared to the first stage. With the help of PBO in improving the chain formation between natural rubber and carbonyl iron particles, the carbonyl iron particles were randomly distributed as referred to Figure 4.1 (a) and decrease the permeability of heat to pass through the MRE. Therefore, a longer time is required for the thermal decomposition of MRE which led to improvement of its thermal stability.



Figure 4.4 TG curve of MR with naphthenic oil

CHAPTER 5 : CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusion

The influence of different PBO on the characteristics of NR-based MRE were studied by analysing its magnetic properties, morphology, and thermal behaviour. The morphology of the MREs depict random dispersion of carbonyl iron particles within the matrix, known as isotropic MRE. MRE with light mineral oil indicates least agglomeration and homogenous dispersion of carbonyl iron particles inside the rubber matrix. The magnetic properties of MRE with naphthenic oil provide low retentivity magnetization at 0.075 emu/g, which result in fast demagnetization of carbonyl iron particles within the matrix . Hence, high saturation magnetization and low retentivity of MRE is desirable for MRE applications in terms of intelligent vibration and noise reduction. The thermal stability of MRE with naphthenic oil was improved with the aid of PBO in improving the distribution of carbonyl iron particles within the rubber matrix. The random distribution of carbonyl iron particles contributed to decrement in the permeability of heat to pass through the MRE and delays the thermal decomposition process thus increase the thermal stability of MRE.

5.2 Recommendations

The study revealed the importance of PBO on the characteristics of MRE, which acts as lubricant in improving the dispersion of carbonyl iron particles within the matrix. Therefore, a comprehensive studies on the magnetic properties and thermal behaviour of MRE using paraffin oil and light mineral oil should be further conducted to enhance the characteristics of NR-based MRE.

REFERENCES

- J. Rabinow, "The magnetic fluid clutch," Trans. Am. Inst. Electr. Eng. 1948, 67(2), 1308.
- [2] M. H. Ahmad Khairi et al., "Role of Additives in Enhancing the Rheological Properties of Magnetorheological Solids: A Review," Advanced Engineering Materials, vol. 21, no. 3, 2018, doi: 10.1002/adem.201800696.
- [3] J. Kaleta, D. L. R. Mech, and P. Zaj, ac, "Smart Magnetic Composites," in Metal, Ceramic and Polymeric Composites for Various Uses, J. Cuppoletti, ed., Janeza Trdine 9, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia: InTech, 2011, pp. 475-504.
- [4] J. S. An, S. H. Kwon, H. J. Choi, J. H. Jung, and Y. G. Kim, "Modified silanecoated carbonyl iron/natural rubber composite elastomer and its magnetorheological performance," Composite Structures, vol. 160, pp. 1020-1026, 2017/01/15/ 2017, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruct.2016.10.128.
- [5] Ubaidillah, J. Sutrisno, A. Purwanto, and S. A. Mazlan, "Recent Progress on Magnetorheological Solids: Materials, Fabrication, Testing, and Applications," Advanced Engineering Materials, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 563-597, 2015, doi: 10.1002/adem.201400258.
- [6] Z. Ren and T. Zhang, "Research Status and Engineering Application of Magnetorheological Elastomers," IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, vol. 563, p. 032018, 2019, doi: 10.1088/1757-899X/563/3/032018.
- S. Eem, H. Jung, and J. Koo, "Application of MR Elastomers for Improving Seismic Protection of Base-Isolated Structures," IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol. 47, no. 10, pp. 2901-2904, 2011, doi: 10.1109/TMAG.2011.2156771.
- [8] Y. Li, J. Li, W. Li, and B. Samali, "Development and characterization of a magnetorheological elastomer based adaptive seismic isolator," Smart Materials and Structures, vol. 22, no. 3, p. 035005, 2013/01/31 2013, doi: 10.1088/0964-1726/22/3/035005.

- [9] H.-J. Jung, S.-H. Eem, D.-D. Jang, and J.-H. Koo, "Seismic Performance Analysis of A Smart Base-isolation System Considering Dynamics of MR Elastomers," Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures, vol. 22, no. 13, pp. 1439-1450, 2011, doi: 10.1177/1045389x11414224.
- [10] J. C. Ramallo, E. A. Johnson, and B. F. Spencer, ""Smart" Base Isolation Systems," Journal of Engineering Mechanics, vol. 128, no. 10, pp. 1088-1099, 2002, doi: doi:10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9399(2002)128:10(1088).
- [11] T. Shiga, A. Okada, and T. Kurauchi, "Magnetroviscoelastic behavior of composite gels," Journal of Applied Polymer Science, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 787-792, 1995, doi: 10.1002/app.1995.070580411.
- [12] J. M. Ginder, M. E. Nichols, L. D. Elie, and J. L. Tardiff, Magnetorheological elastomers: properties and applications (1999 Symposium on Smart Structures and Materials). SPIE, 1999.
- [13] U. Sabino, S. Mazlan, S. A. B. Abdul Aziz, M. H. Ahmad Khairi, and N. Mohamad, "Physicochemical and Viscoelastic Properties of Magnetorheological Solids," Reference Module in Materials Science and Materials Engineering, 2015, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-803581-8.03991-6.
- [14] Li, W.H., Nakano, M., 2013. Fabrication and characterization of PDMS based magnetorheological elastomers. Smart Mater. Struct. 22, 055035.
- [15] Kashima, S., Miyasaka, F., Hirata, K., 2012. Novel soft actuator using magnetorheological elastomer. IEEE Trans. Magn. 48, 1649–1652.
- [16] Pössinger, T., Bolzmacher, C., Bodelot, L., Triantafyllidis, N., 2013. Interfacial adhesion between the iron fillers and the silicone matrix in magneto-rheological elastomers at high deformations. In: Schmid, U., Sánchez, de Rojas, Aldavero, J.L., Leester-Schaedel, M. (Eds.), Smart Sensors, Actuators and MEMS VI, pp. 87631Y-1–87631Y-11.
- [17] L. Chen, X. L. Gong, W. Q. Jiang, J. J. Yao, H. X. Deng, and W. H. Li, "Investigation on magnetorheological elastomers based on natural rubber," Journal of Materials Science, journal article vol. 42, no. 14, pp. 5483-5489, July 01 2007, doi: 10.1007/s10853-006-0975-x.

- [18] S. A. A. Aziz et al., "A comparative assessment of different dispersing aids in enhancing magnetorheological elastomer properties," Smart Materials and Structures, vol. 27, no. 11, 2018, doi: 10.1088/1361-665X/aae1e1.
- [19] A. Boczkowska and S. F. Awietjan, "Urethane Magnetorheological Elastomers -Manufacturing, Microstructure and Properties," Solid State Phenomena, vol. 154, pp. 107--112, 2009, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/SSP.154.107.
- [20] T. F. Tian, W. H. Li, G. Alici, H. Du, and Y. M. Deng, "Microstructure and magnetorheology of graphite-based MR elastomers," Rheologica Acta, journal article vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 825-836, October 01 2011, doi: 10.1007/s00397-011-0567-9.
- [22] Kuriakose A.P. & Varghese M. (2003).3. Use of rice bran oil and epoxidized rice bran oil in carbon black–filled natural rubber–polychloroprene blends. Journal of Applied Polymer Science 90(14): 4084-4092.
- [23] Kuriakose A.P. & Varghese M. (1999). The compounding 4. of nitrile and polychloroprene rubbers with rice barn oil. Iranian Polymer Journal 8(4): 247-255.
- [24] Jayewardhana, W. G. D., Perera, G., Edirisinghe, D., & Karunanayake, L. (2009). Study on natural oils as alternative processing aids and activators in carbon black filled natural rubber. Journal of The National Science Foundation of Sri Lanka -J NATL SCI FOUND SRI LANKA, 37. doi:10.4038/jnsfsr.v37i3.1212
- [25] Bahruddin, Ahmad, A., Prayitno, A., & Satoto, R. (2012). Morphology and Mechanical Properties of Palm Based Fly Ash Reinforced Dynamically Vulcanized Natural Rubber/Polypropylene Blends. Procedia Chemistry, 4, 146-153. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proche.2012.06.021
- [26] K. R. Rajisha, B. Deepa, L. A. Pothan, and S. Thomas, "9 Thermomechanical and spectroscopic characterization of natural fibre composites," in Interface Engineering of Natural Fibre Composites for Maximum Performance, N. E. Zafeiropoulos Ed.: Woodhead Publishing, 2011, pp. 241-274.

 [27] ASTM Standard D6370-99, 1999 (2003), "Standard Test Method for Rubber— Compositional Analysis by Thermogravimetry (TGA)," ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2003, DOI: 10.1520/D6370-99R03, <u>www.astm.org</u>.